by Jessamyn West

(The distinguished Quaker writ-
er Jessamyn West 1s the author
of ““The Friendly Persuasion,”’
anmong other books, and 1s the
cditor of *‘ The Quaker Reader.’’)

In the black days last Novem-
ber when murder followed as-
sassination, a third and contra-
dictory act was reported in the
press. This act was reported be-
cause it also had to do with Lee
Oswald, Friday's alleged assas-
sin and Sunday’s victim. A Mrs.
Ruth Paine, a Quaker, had taken
in Lee Oswald’s pregnant wife
and baby daughter while he was
out of work; and on weekends
Lee Oswald himself had some-
times visited his family in Mrs.
PPaine’s home in Irving, a sub-
urb of Dallas. It was from the
PPaine home that Oswald, carry-
ing ‘‘curtain rods,”’ went to his
job Friday morning in the
School Book Depository on Elm
Street.

There are people, T have dis-
covered, who missed these ac-
counts of Ruth Paine. All their
available emotional energy was
spent on the principals in the
tragedy—the President, his wife
and the President’s murderer.
There was scarcely enough emo-
tion left, even, for more than
consternation when Jack Ruby
shot down Lee Oswald.

I thought about Mrs. Paine,
however. What she had done
stuck in my mind more even than

PHOTOGRAPH OF RUTH PAINE Y MARVIN KONER

850

Prelude to Tragedy:

The woman who
sheltered Lee Oswald’s
family tells her story

what Oswald or Ruby had done.
Perhaps this was because of
some personal need to associate
myself with what is creative, not
destructive ; with what is respon-
sible, not irresponsible. But it
was also, I think, because such
an act was so desperately needed
in that weekend of violence and
destruction; it was needed not
only morally, as a reminder to
us that the desire to foster hu-
man life as well as to destroy it
still survived in the world; it
was needed aesthetically, as the
knocking on the door in Macbeth
is needed after the bloody events
that have preceded it. The spec-
tators who, because of television,
were very near to being partici-
pants required emotional rest.
And the happenings of that
weekend, looked at as drama,
required, after assassination and
murder, Mrs. Paine’s ‘‘concern’’
(to use a Quaker word) for the
Oswalds if those happenings
were to give any balanced ac-
count of the human condition.
Now, history, of course, has no
interest in giving balanced ac-
counts of human nature. History
can go for long stretehes without
ever bringing to attention those
acts of kindness, of unselfishness,
of brotherly concern, that are
always coexistent with acts of
violence and bloodshed. Some of
us on occasion may be capable,
as Mrs. Paine was, of doing unto
others as we would be done by.
But when it comes to reading
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matter, we want what is bloody
and violent. It is entirely possi-
ble, on the weekend when we
all watched the assassination of
President Kennedy and the
shooting of Lee Oswald, that
hundreds or even thousands of
women were doing exactly what
Ruth Paine was doing: offering
food, shelter and friendship to a
family in need of it. These wom-
en will never be known to us
They did not befriend the fam-
ily of a man accused of assassi-
nating the President.

We should not delude our-

selves about this. I would not
have gone to Dallas to talk to a
woman who for six years had
taken care of her bedridden step-
father and his older half-blind
sister. Though her act might, in
a scale assaying human devotion,
outweigh Mrs. Paine’s tenfold.
You would not be reading my
account of that visit. We are in-
terested in what Mrs. Paine did
because Lee Oswald and his fam-
ily were the recipients of Ruth
Paine’s hospitality. From a bed-
room in her home. Lee Oswald
rose that Friday morning; in her
kitchen he made and drank his
morning coffee. From her garage
he picked up his rifle. With a
neighbor of hers he rode to his
work, rested, refreshed, well-
armed.

‘We may love goodness, cherish
compas- (Continued on page 84)
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sion, honor uncelfishness: but we have a
hard time getting around to reading about
them unless they are somehow hloodstained
and tear<plashed.  When Ruth Paine
snggested to Maring Oswald that she es.
cape a trip back to Russia that Marina
did not want to make. and which Tee
Oswald was suggesting, by sharing Mrs,
Paine’s home. she was all unknowing,
guaranteeing that her act of hospitality
meet these requirements.

I wrote Mr<. Paine a letter asking if
I could interview her. and followed the
fetter with a phone call. The Tetter, 1
later discovered. had put Mrs. Paine off.
Reeause | had read <ome accounts charg-
ing Mrs. Paine with everything from un.
justifiable  guilelessness  to downright
cooperation. | was at pains to et her
know that T was not such a one,  Mrs
Paine. as a result. was afraid that my
desire was 1o place her on a pedestal.
This <he did not want.

During my phone catl T formed such
a definite picture of Ruth Paine that
when | finally met her. T had at first the
feeling that T was dealing with ~omeone
[ am nat sure what elements had
contributed 1o my original picture. Tt
was not her voice alone. cool, soft, col-
lecteds or her diction. cultivated: or her
conrlesy. which, in spite of her fack of
enthusiasm for my project, never failed.
The picture T had of her was also of the
woman reported by the press, the “Quak.
er and housewife.”  Now, T know that
Quakers and housewives come in all <izes
and colors: and that motherliness, which
1 had attributed to her becanse of her
<olicitnde for the young Marina Owwald,
ha~ more than one confliguration.  Never
the lesse | had seen Ruth Paine o clearly
as smatl, rounded. maternal, that when |
met a tall giel, five-feet nine or ten, with
a long brown hob. looking more like the
campus than the kitehen and huilt more
tike a dancer than a Quaker {(whatever
that may mean, except that her outlines
raki~h than restrained), | wa-
unable for the first hour ta accept her as
Ruth 'aine. i talked with her a~ if <he
wens someone empowered te speak for
Ruth Paine

else.

WEere more

()n my first evening in Dallas, Mre
[*aine aked me to come o hier place at
an for dinner. b left my hotel at five
thirty. My taxi driver. a former ek
driver. was in ks third das of taxi driv
ing. and while he could have taken me
nnerringly to he had
difficulty finding the Paine home.
The conntrv~ide we drove throngh was
hideaus. a~ i~ the urhan <prawl outside
maost growing ciies, Here a great empty
<pace, a horizon world-shaped, and im.
pressive hecanse of it< inhumanity. had
heen littered with buildings.  Openness
and the onetime grandeur were lost in the
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pockings of <ubdivisions and  shopping
centers and overpasses,

“Is this the chief road hetween Irving
and Dallas?” T asked the driver.

He told me it was. Down this high-
way. then, Oswald had ridden that Friday
morning. past pole oaks and hackberry
trees. leafless then as now, past signs for
Corn Dogs and Jax beer and weckend
specials on coffee and margarine and
steak. Tt this remembered fact, 1
thought. as well as the smoky gloom of the
sunset and the pity of a wild heauty lost
and a domestic heauty not yet achieved,
that made me feel sorrowful and appre.
hensive,

We were late: the exctruck driver was
not yet accustomed to locating private
homes,  He pulled up finally in front of
a small, light gray frame house. A young
man waited at the curb to greet me. Sinee
[ understood that Ruth Paine was sepa.
rated from her huhand. T had no idea
who he might hie. He was tall. dark, slen.
der: and in the snap judgments that come
to one unhidden, I characterized him as
probahly intelligent and possibly moady.
He turned out to be Ruth Paine’s husband,
Alichael. from whom she had been sepa.
rated for a vear or more hefore the assa
nation but who had since rejoined his
family. He took me up the short pathway
to the house anid 1 crienced the shock
of meeting the “res Ruth Paine: the
Quaker who looked more like the campus
than the mectinghon<e: the mother built
more like a dancer than a heusewife: the
voice which. without aid of long-distance
wire-, was warmer and mare spirited than
the one 1 remembered.

From the Paines” hiving room | could
see the dining room. which was really an
extension of their kitchen. 1 went to the
kitchen to offer my help with the dinner
preparations, saying. however. that T my-
<olf never wanted guests in the kitchen:
that T couldn’t talk and do anvthing else,

Ruth Paine said matter-of-factly. ~If
vou have children. you either learn to
talk and cook at the same time ot starve.”

The chitdren. tall for their ages, came
in from ontside then -Lynn. aged four,
her hrother Christopher, three. They were
compos~ed children, not required or in-
clined to make much ado over a visitor.
And. a~ 1 realized later. there had been
oo much coming and going in that house
recently for the advent of a single dinner
wuest to make much impression. They
were actuatly more secustomed to numbers
of people than 1. “Lynn” her mathes
ol me. “watches elevision. She knows
what has nappened. She knows that fee
Killed the President.”

was

The dinser. ~imple and - good, ap-
peared with dispateh in <pite of our talk.
I thought there might he <ilent grace be
fore dinner. There was none. Later |
learned that this was not abways the case,
Amid that onee when Lee Oswald was at
the table and heads were bowed, he had
made ~ounds of disapproval in his throat.
He was an atheist, able to swallow the
food of believers but impatient with their
desire to consecrate the occasion  with
praver.

There wa~ also nothing to drink, be-
fore or with the meal, except water.  Ruth,
who is extremely sensitive about sailing
under false colors, particularly if they
make her out to be better than she thinks
she is. explained that this lack was the re-

sult not of teetotalism but of supplies,
They usually had a drink before dinner
when they had company, but had run out
of the necessary ingredients.

There were candles on the table: and
what was most memorahle to me about the
meal was not anything said there. but
Ruth Paine’s smile in the candlelight as
she turned to listen to her hushand.

We spoke no word of the Oswalds at
the dinner table. T felt that we were con.
scinusly avoiding the subject. as drivers,
not caring to be thought morhid, drive
past the wrecked car and sprawled bodies.,
Wreckage and sprawled bodies were a part
of my purpose in being in Dallas and at
that dinner tahle. But it was not an op.
portune time to approach them. That was
the week when Marina Oswald was re
ported to be changing lawyers and firing
managers. It was the week when Ruby
jurors were heing chosen: and Dallas was
filled with correspondents from Furope as
well as America, come to see justice done
—with fireworks, if possible. Tt was the
week of Mrs, Oswald Sr.'s trinmphs on the
lecture platform, with receipts of $5.000
reported in return for her oratory.

Were we also vultures gathered round
the same hodies and feasting on the same
tragedy?  That possibility had to be faced.
And while T could tell myself. perhaps
amugly. that what T wanted to associate
myself with, to report and to celchrate.
wag not murder and assassination. vio-
lenee and destruction, but their opposites,
still, as | have already aid. 1 knew that §
would not be in Dalias or dining with the
Paines except for the fact that their lives
had been touched by violence.

Michael and T went to the living
room, leaving Ruth to put her children to
bed with songs and story reading.  The
living room was small. 11 by 16 at the
most, and it showed signs of occupancy by
children. There were no flowers, no knick-
knacks. none of the gadgetry of the charm
«chools of furnishing.  There were some
and two replicas, rather large. of
classical statuary. Tt was a room that had
entered into no  competition with  the
Joneses: objects in that room would not
take precedence over persons. A sofa
ocenpied most of the space against the
longest wall: opposite it was a sizable tele-
vision set. Here Ruth Paine and Marina
Oswald had fiest tearned of the President’s
a~sassination.  Here Lee Oswald had spent
weveral weekend afternoons sprawled on
the floor. watching sports events. My
eves, in spite of themselves. went o that
spot on the floor.

Ruth Paine is aol a woman to de-
nounce others, But one of the few “good™
things <he could find te <ay about FLee
Oswald had to do with his television view-
ing.  He watched foothall. and while he
did <0 he played with Christopher, let
Christopher climb over him a< he sprawled
on the floor.

[ told Michael that Ruth’s “kindness
to the Oswalds™ (and Ruth herself never
permitted me to use this phrase without
reminding me that she had gained as much
in her association with Marina Oswald ax
<he had given) had its greatest significance
for Americans not as an act in itself but
as a symbol of a way of life we were
losing: the old way of life when as a
rural and frontier country we were genu-
inely concerned for the welfare, the for-
tunes and misfortunes of our neighbors.

oils
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The man helped Iy the Good Samaritan
might have survived without help—who
knows?  But how about the Samaritan—
could he have survived?  What would
have heen the state of his heart and char
acter had he ignored the man in the
ditch and been. instead of a “good.” nol
necessartly a “had™ hut simply an “ine
different™ Samaritan?

What lies ahead for us if we follow
our present trendd toward indifference?
AlL of us represented by slotted and num.
bered cards in the 1BM machines, but
aloof from any emotional involvement
with each other?  Ready to provide an
adequate donation. the appropriate hu.
rean. the eflicient machinery to care for
all human predicaments.  But not a hand,
not a heart. What will be the result of
thi= continuing  dehumanization? s it
possible that the death of a president does
nol present the threai to our country pre-
sented by the deaths of individual heart<?
That we have less to fear from the vio-
lence of an occasional crackpot than we
have from the wholesate drying up of all
aenuine concern for our neighbors? |
~poke 10 Michael I'aine of these feelings
while Ruth was out of the room. e
agreed with me that there was a need for
more openness. more ~haring. more ri<k-
taking, in our personal relations,

Michael Paine had not seen much f
Lee Oswald, But he did sce him on Fri-
dav nights. when Michael was accustomed
1o visit and have dinner with his family.
On these nights Lee Oswald, who usually
came oul from Dallas to spend the week-
end with Marina, might also he there.

“1 sometimes wonder if T gave up too
~oon with Lee,” Michael said, 1 wonder
if my patience had held out longer. or my
desire to help him had leen stronger. if 1
could have done something for him.”

He had tried 10 talk to Oswald. He
wa~ genuinely interested in Oswald’s rea-
wns, first for leaving America. then for
leaving Russta. Oswald was either unin-
terested in. or incapable of, that kind of
conversation which, through shared in-
stgghts, advances to an understanding of a
subject that is impossible to either man
alone.

“Oswald.” said Michael, “had picked
up some pat political opinions, mostly
from his Marxian reading. And once he
had expressed these. he lost all interest in
the conversation. He had no ahility or
desire to examine specific cases or to de-
termine whether or not they cast some
doubt on the generalization he was quot-
ing.  He didnt want his generalizations
disturhed.”

[t was not surprising to me that a
man of Oswald’s reported 1Q (around
103) did not make a stimulating conver-
sational partner for Michael Paine. M-
chael once took Oswald to a meeting of
the American Civil Liberties Union. Os.
wald. when he found that the organization
wa~ nonpolitical. that it had no program
other than to protect the constitutional
n;,hh of individuals, was not 1nlcrn~~lm|

“In one of our arguments.” Michael
wid, T told Lee that all the civilized
values T hold dear are diminished or lost
by acts of violence. But he held such hu-
man values in contempl. the same con-
tempt in which he held most human be-
ings. 1 gave up arguing with him then”

Joining us. Ruth recalled some of her
own feclings when she had heard Michael

argue with Oswald about his philosophy
and polities.

I thought that Lee was reatly much
more moved. by his feelings than by his
ideas. 1 felt that meeting his arguments
with arguments was l]uih' irrelevant and
wouldn't touch him. that the only way his
life would cver De changed would be
through matters that affected his feelings,
As long as he had trouble holding a job
and was worried about money. he would
indict the society in which he Lived.”

“Do you think ten thousand dollars a
year might have cured Oswald of his mur-
derous impulses?” 1 asked her.

“Of course. T had no ides or hint
then that he had murderous impulses,
Now [ think that economic security would
not have been enough.  But I thought then
that any attempts at reconciliation would
have to begin there”

\V parted early that evening.  Michael,
an engineer at the Bell Helicopter Com.
pany. had a job to go to next morning.
Ruth and 1 had a date to meet at 9:30
Ak at my hotel room in Dallas,

My driver for the trip back to town
wa~ a ruddy. wavy-haired cherub who ap-
peared to he about 18, He looked freshly
hathed, garbed and possibly  anointed.
and he had a spectacular ability to drive
facing the back seat.  He told me that he
wax the voungest of 12 children, 11 still
alive and all living in Texas.

As we neared the outskirts of town
he said. “Have vou seen where it hap-
pened?”

No need to ask what
him.

“IIE show you.” he said.

I wanted to see and I didn't want to
see.

“Do you know what happened to me
two nights before it happened?”

“No.” T told him again.

=1 was sitting talking with my wife.
Suddenly something hit me. “Honey." |
said, “the President will never leave Dallas
alive.” What | said \urprw-d me as much
as it did her, my wi

Later in the \\eck T told Ruth this

“There were many who reported the
same thing.” she said.

“After it happened they said they
remembered these premonitions?”

“No. hefore 1t happened lhr) had
called friends or written letters.”

My driver. though he continued to
face me. was silent for & while. xeeming to
muse on the strangeness of that foresight
of his.  The night was ciear. lit by an
unclouded moon and the neon glare of a
big city. The car drifted ax before. Sud-
denly the locale hecame familiar, as it is
in a dream when vou say to vourself. “1
have been here hefore” but can’t for a
minute rememher how or when.  Then
when | saw the sweeping curve, the over-
pass. the huilding to my left as we were
inward hound. 1 remembered when 1 had
heen there and why-—many, many times
on television—the movement of the cars
during the aciual event,
reshowing in order to demonstrate the po-

I told
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the many times

sition of the assassin in the window of the
Texas School Book Depository. the tra.
jectory of bullets, the distance needed to
travel to reach the safety of the underpass.
“That i~ where he fell”™ my Jlriver
He pointed to our right.

He did not fall there, of course. He
fell. he crumpled. into his wife's lap as
he sat in the back seat of a moving car.
But our memory clings to places. The
earth is haliowed or defiled by what hap.
pens on it and we need to sav, “There it
happened.™  So. “There he fell.”

When we stopped in front of my hotel
my driver said. as many cab drivers in
lln- South do at the conclusion of a trip,
“Hx heen a pleasure visiting with you,
ma'am.”

As 1 stepped out of the taxi he
handed me a card |wann;: his name and
the word “Evangelist.™ T did not sup-
pose that he was an angel of the Lord, hut
that card increased my feeling that my
trip {from Trving to Datlas had been more
than routine,

<aid.

If cards carrying the relevant data on
all the citizens of Dallas had been run
through an [BM machine geared to select
the eitizen most likely to give help to a
person in trouble, the card of Ruth Paine
might well have been selected.  Ruth
Paine does not like to think of herself as a
“do-gooder.” though she admits that doing
good i~ a tendeney in hersell that dloes
raise its ugly head. In the days alter the
assassination, when officials and  news
papermen left her dittle time for her
housework, she employed a colored woman
to help her.  The colored woman ex-
pressed interest in getting advice from a
birth-control clinic: so Ruth drove ol with
her helper to a Dallas birth-contral clinic
and let the house go hang. This, to my
mind, is admirable: persons put before
things and others hefore self.  But Ruth
was dismayed when she saw the list 1
made of the work she had done and the
organizations to which she had belonged.

“I xound like an activist.”

“How else is anything ever accom-
plished?™

“Don’t preach about me.
~hm1n§. example.”

‘Il 1at your acts speak for you.”

I'm no

Ruth Hyde

Paine was horn in New

York in September. 1932.  She was
hrought up in Columbus, Ohio. Her fa-
ther is in the insurance husiness. Her

mother. Carol Hyde, is now an ordained
minister in the Unitarian Church: she
has just completed her work for a Bache-
lor of Divinity Degree at Oberlin College
in preparation for a position as a hospital
chaplain.

The first word that came 10 Ruth’s
mind in describing herself as a child was
“shy.”  Her happiest times as a young
child were times alone, and she found it
hard to meet people.

“No one would guess, reading this
st 1 have of what you've done. that you
were a shy child”

“Perhaps. because T was shy. I tried
harder to make contact than those for
whom it comes easily. But the times |
remember best were solitary. | remember
running with nyy dog: [ rememher making
a nest in a wheat field: | remember a
great field of wild strawberries. T re.

member wondering about God, and won-
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dering at twelve §f there was a God, 1
remember talking—that s the way it
seemed 1o me then—with God. My par-
ents were Methodists first. then Unitari.
an<.”

By the time Ruth was 15, howeve
she was already involved in Quaker activi.
ties,  She had attended a Quaker-spon.
sored World  Affatrs meeting, joined a
teen-age Quaker interracial club. and even
taught snmmer clas<es in Quaker Bible
schools. Tt was afller entering Antioch
Coltege in 1919 that <he decided formally
to hecome a OQuaker. =1 was tremendous.
Iy excited by the idea of the “inner light'

the possibility of direct communication
between God and man.  Also by the
Quaker concern for other people.”

In the next few years she was active
in the National Quaker Young People’s
Group. wa~ ~ent ta the Friends World
Confrrence at Oxford, attended a Quaker
work carip in South Dakota. and in 1953
was chairman for the biennial National
Young Friend< Conference.

When ©ashed her whether the offieial
side of Quaker life reatly appealed to hee
a~ much as these activities would indicate,
she said:

“There were things that needed

1o be accomplished. and [ didn’t know

how. except through organizations. they
corld e accomplished

Organizations of thi~ kind were a

means of helping people. And  Ruth

Paine was increasingly concerned  aboat

prople who needed acceptance and help,
especially those who least expected to
find it. I have always heen aware of the
look on the face of a person who does not
expect to bhe accepted. the Took about the
mouth of the person who expects defeat.
Lee Oswald had this look.™

A vear after her graduation from
Antioch. Ruth met Michael Paine in Phila-
delphia. where <he was a plavground di-
rector and teacher of folk dancing at the
Germantown Friends School.

w
Ihv Paines came o Teving, o the town

and the house where they now live, he.
fore the hirth of their fiest child, Ruth
chose the house herself: it price. STO.000,

tells how modest it is. Their second child
was horn a little more than o year after
the first. Twa vears after Christopher's
birth and for reason~ | did not diseuss
with Ruth. the Paines separated.

When <he first met the Oswalds, Ruth
Paine was a woman with twe small chil-
dren and <eparated from her hushand: «
woman aceustomed, untit her marriage, t;
many purposeful meetings with adults,
She was andoabtedv donely, and felt the
exehision from the world and its happen.
e~ that many voung mothers, their day<

Aevoted o voung chilidren. feel,

Foward the February, 1063,
Roth received an invitation from a Dallas
fricnd 1o attend & party at which Lee
Oswald. a man who had gone 10 Russia,
originally intending to stav. was coming to
talk about his experiences,

“How did vou happen to be nvited?™
I asked her.

“F knew the host. We had sung Fng-
Hich madrigals together,”

The Paines hoth are singers. Michael
sings with a church choir in Dallas now.
and hefore his marriage had toured Fu.
rope with a group of American singers.
Ruth, on the evening of my first visit

end of

with the Paines, had delighted me by
singing a eereal commercial as a round
with her children,

“The host invited me.” Ruth recalled,
“hecause he knew T owas interested in
learning the Russian language well enough
to teach it. Lee Oswald told about his
experiences in the Saviet Union, where he
met and married Marina. He talked to a
clutch of people around him for perhaps
an hour. but I mizsed half of it hecause 1
spent time getting acquainted with the
kitchen crowd.  He talked about the cen-
soring of hix mail. He realized after he
got home that his hrother had sent some
letters that never reached him.  He said
that all mail from foreign countries ad-
dressed anywhere in the USSR, must go
first 1o a Moscow office for reading.

“I wasn't <ure as he talked whether
he was dissatisfied with the Soviet system
or simply wanted to make it elear to his
listerers that he was not hlind to its de-
fectz. He did say that he had gone there
hecause he thought their system superior
w ours, and that while there he tried to
renounce his eitizenship. But our embas-
sy refused to surrender his pas-port to the
Soviet  government.  If they had, it's
doubtful that he could have come back to
this country with his wife and their haby.

“[ <aw little of Marina the first part
of the party, She was trying to get June,
their one-vearold. to <leep. She  ex-
plained that she didn’t like to leave Junie
with a haby sitter. [ remember wondering
if it was poxsible that she was expecting a
child again. though how it occurred to me.
I can’t imagine. Perhaps it was because
although <he said she liked beer. she
refused a drink. She had quit smoking
when she was expeeting June,  She al-
ways put her children first,

I got her address and wrote, asking
H b oeould come and visit sometime, [
hoped for a chance to practice Russian
and thought T might help her with Eng.
lish.”

“Why were vou so interested in Ru--
stan?”

“Not for the reasons Uve seen al-
tributed 10 me by the press——to for.
ward Soviet-American relations.” Goodness
knows. 1 don’t want to do anything to
impatr those relations!  But U've alwass
been interested in languages. 1 think
we're handicapped as Americans hecause
we are <o limited in our knowledge of the
fanguages of othee countries.  i'm glad
our government is encouraging language
study. | think we'd be better off if more
of us vould communicate with pvupl( from
other countries more dm‘rtl\

Marina Uswald wrote back inviting
Ruth to visit, and s<he did, taking her chil-
dren, Lynn, then three, and Christopher,
two,

“We took all three children for «
walk in the park near their apartment.
Marina was very pleased that her Junie
felt comfortable around me.  The child
was often afraid of strangers. but when [
came <he took an interest in my children
and their tovs and hardly noticed me.”

On thiz first visit Ruth found that
Marina was expecting a baby in October.

“We visited two or three times after
that and hegan to confide as friends.
Marina said that awhile ago her husband
had told her he wanted her to go hack to
the Soviet Unton. T didn’t know whether
this was said in the anger of a quarrel,

exchange.’

whether he wax really tired of her or
whether he simply resented the expenses
of a wife. She had written to the Soviet
embassy to inquire about going back.
When they wrote to ask why, she didn't
answer. She dropped the subject. She
liked the United States. she told me, and
she hoped to learn enough English to he.
come part of the life here—to get a job."

Ruth felt sorry for Marina Oswald. She
struck Ruth as a person of pride, capu-
bility and sensitivity. It seemed unfair
to her that the girl he made to return
to the Soviet Union simply because she
had wo alternative.  Oswald meanwhile
had lost his job in a photoengraving shop
in Dailas, Marina suggested to her hus.
band that he look for a job in New Or.
leans, the city w here he was born.

Ruth arrived at the Oswalds™ apart.
ment in late April for what she thought
would bhe another visit with Marina simi-
far to the previous ones. She found Os.
wald packed to go to New Orleans. He
had informed Marina that she was to wait
at the Dallas apartment until he found a
job and a place to live.

“I suggested that instead of waiting
there she come and stay at my house.
where Lee could phone when he had
word.”

Ruth al~o offered to drive Oswald's
family the 500 miles between Dallas and
New Orleans in her 1955 Chevrolet station
wagon to rejoin him when he found a job.
She suggested this, she says, because she
thought the bus trip would be difficult for
a pregnant woman with a small child
The thought that a thousand-mile trip in
an old car. the first half of the trip with
three small children and a pregnant wo-
man, would he difficult for her seems not
to have occurred to Ruth Paine.

“Did Oswald ever make any contribu-
tion toward the support of his family
while they were with you?”

“That April he left some money with
Marina. which she put toward groceries
and incidentalz, It was used up bhefore
the two-week stay was over. In the fall
when Marina was with me, he gave her no
money | can recall except ten dollars to
pay for some new shoes for her.”

“Was Marha helpful?”

“Very. She worked hard around the
touse. | only wished my Russian were
better =0 we could tatk more freely, She'd
have to explain her jokes, even though she
got mine easily cnough. One day Chris
and June were squabbling over a toy and
I commented: “Soviet-American cultural
She laughed and said, ‘Don't
say it!" I don't think | was ever able to
convince her how valuable it was to me to
have a re<ident nonpaid tutor. She was
never  comfortable accepting  bed and
board of me.”

On May 9th, Lee Oswald called to
say that he had a job and had rented an
apartment. So with her station wagon
loaded with Oswald belongings, Ruth
Paine set out for New Orleans.

The apartment Oswald had obtained
was on Magazine Street, old, ugly and
full of cockroaches. The Oswalds quar-
reled—about petty things, it seemed’ to
Ruth—for the two days she was there, and
she was glad tosturn homeward.

Back in Irving, Ruth had a letter
from Marina saying that she might yet be
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sent back to Russia. Ruth got the name
of a fellow Quaker in New Orleans and
asked her to look in on the Oswalds. But
the Oswalds’ relationship bettered and
Marina wrote that all was well.

In August, Ruth drove East on vaca-
tion. On her way back to Irving, in Sep-
tember, she stopped in New Orleans. Lee
Oswald had by this time lost his New
Orleans job.

Ruth suggested that Marina come to
Texas, where she qualified as a one-year
resident and could receive hospital care
adjusted to her husband’s ability to pay.
She invited Marina to stay at her house
{Qr}‘a month hefore and after the baby's
hitth,

Oswald appeared relieved to have the
problem of his wife's care before and dur-
ing her confinement solved. He told Ruth
that he was going to Houston to look for
a job. Instead, as she learned after the
assassination, he went to Mexico and
tried to get a visa for a trip to Cuba—
whether long or short, no one can now say.

Unti! after the assassination, Ruth be-
lieved that Lee Oswald deceived hoth
Marina and herself about the trip to
Mexico. Now she is not positive how
much knowledge of the trip Marina had.
Some time after October 4th, when Os.
wald had called the Paine home to say
that he was in Dallas, that he had found a
room there and was looking for work, he
asked to use Michael Paine’s drill press in
the garage. He wanted to bore a hole in
a coin so that Marina could wear it on a
chain around her neck. After the assassi-
nation, when officers of the law gathered
up many of the Oswald effects left in the
Paine home, Ruth saw what it was that
Lee Oswald had drilled—a Mexican peso.

On October 4th, about two weeks be-
fore Marina’s baby was due, Oswald
phoned, talked to Marina and asked her
whether Ruth could pick him up in down-
town Dallas. Ruth heard Marina tell her
hushand that this would be impossible,
that Ruth had just returned from the Park.
land Hospital, where she had given one of
the two pints of hlood asked for by doc-
tors from the friends of maternity patients,
Marina was receiving prenatal care there;
and there, where John Kennedy and Lee
Oswald both were to die, Ruth Paine had
heen donating blood in behalf of Oswald’s
wife. So Oswald had to hitchhike that
day to the Paine home.

Hitchhiking was easy for Lee Oswald,
Ruth said. He was clean, slightly built
and could probably be taken for a college
student. On the afternoon of October 4th
a kind driver delivered him, after Oswald
had told the driver of his two weeks’ sepa-
ration from wife and child, to the Paine
door. Oswald came out regularly each
weekend from that first one until the
weekend of November 9th to 11th,

1 did not get a very vivid picture of
Lee Oswald from Ruth. This may be in
part a result of the fact that he wasn’t a
vivid person, in part a result of the fact
that it was painful for Ruth Paine to think
about him. She was, I could not help
seeing, a much more worn and depressed
person at the end of our week's talks than
she had been singing rounds on the night 1
first met her.

“Did Oswald talk? Was he a talker?”

“No. Not to me, at least. He didnt
like to talk English with me. If I'd start
in English, he’d answer in Russian.”

“Did he ever talk politics with you?”

“No. I never did try to communicate
ideologically, and besides, I couldn’t in
Russian. I made no special effort to be
kind to Lee or to sympathize with him. I
did try to teach him to drive, and I think
he appreciated this. He could see that
there was no self-interest in this.”

“What self-interest did he think there
wat in your taking care of his wife and
child. driving twice between New Orleans
and Dallas. taking her to the hospital, giv-
ing -ur blood for her?”

‘Lee undgrstood how hard it is to
I 4 Russian and how useful it was to

+ someone speaking it to me in the
house.”

“Did he ever offer

“He planed the fron!
it stuck.”

“Did he offer to pay for groceries?”

“Not when he was my guest, but he
did when I was his guest in New Orleans.
And then when I had to buy a new tire
hefore I could start home, I thought he
looked embarrassed not to be able to
make some contribution.”

fe
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“Was he nice to Marina?” .

“I didn’t think so. He didn’t like her
to have any independence. He didn't
seem to want her to learn English. If she
was getting the better of him in an argu-
ment in Russian, he told her to shut up.”
“I don’t see how you put up with
him.”

“Once human ties were formed and I
loved and cared for Marina, I couldn’t say
to her, ‘Be thus and so or I'll wash my
hands of you.! Lee was her husband. 1
couldn’t say, ‘Get rid of your husband.” I
never saw him hit her, though, as [ read in
the press some people had reported. I
never saw him violent in any way. His
words were sharp sometimes, but I took
this as a sign that he got out petty griev-
ances and irritations with his wife and
didn’t let them build up to explosion
size.”

When Lee Oswald returned to Dalias
from Mexico he did not have a job, but he

was still getting unemployment compensa.
tion. By October 12th, however, he had
received his last check.

“Had he been looking for work while
he was receiving this money?” I asked
Ruth.

“Yes, after he got back to Dallas he
had been looking, But by the end of the
first week he had no job, only his final un-
employment check. The baby was due
any day, and with no money and no pros-
pect of any I think he felt pretty desper-
ate. He got his joh at the School Book
Depository by chance. On Monday, Octo-
ber fourteenth, Marina and I were having
coffee with a neighbor. We were saying
that Lee had been unable to find work,
and another neighbor who had stopped in
said that she had a brother working at the
Texas School Book Depository and that
she thought there might be an opening
there.  When Lee called the house that
evening we told him of this possibility.
He applied and was accepted. Mr. Truly,
the man who employed Lee, had two open-
ings, one in a warehouse near Stemmon's
Expressway, one in the Depository build-
ing on Elm Street. Again chance en-
tered, and Mr. Truly gave Lee the job at
the Elm Street location.”

*“How did you find out that Oswaid
had the job?”

“He phoned immediately (v say he
was to start in the morning. He was
grateful and elated. He came out on
Friday, October eighteenth, and we cele-
brated his new job and his twenty-fourth
birthday.”

On Sunday, October 20th, Marina
Oswald’s second child, Rachel, was born.
Ruth Paine took her to the hospital.

“When [ left her going into the labor
room, she asked me to pray for her.”

“You weren't able to get in touch
with Oswald?”

“He was at my house that weekend.
He had given us the telephone number of
his rooming house in Dallas so we could
reach him with the news if Marina went to
the hospital. But we didn’t need to use
it.”

“You never used it, then?”

“Only once later. It was Sunday,
November seventeenth. Junie had been
playing with the telephone dial and Ma-
rina got the idea of phoning Lee. She
asked me to call the number he had
given us. 1 dialed and asked for Lee Os.
wald. I was told no Lee Oswald lived
there. I asked if I had reached the right
number and if this was a rooming house.
The answers were yes. 1 hung up in be-
wilderment.

“Next day Lee phoned Marina, bawled
her out for having called him and told
her he” was living there under a different

e.
“How did Marina feel about that?”
“She was very upset. She said it

wasn’t the first time that she had been

caught ‘between two fires’—between loyal-
ty to her husband and her own conviction
of what was right.”

“What did you think when you
learned he was using a false name?”

“By then I'd begun to think that Lee
had a liking for deception for its own
sake. I also supposed he was doing it in
order that the Ple at the School Book
Depository woumt find out that he had a
Russian wife. He asked the man he rode
to work with not to let people at work
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know that his wife was Russian. He was
afraid, I'm sure, that if this were known,
it would come out that he had tried to
defect, and that this might cause him to
lose his job. He didnt want me to let
the people at Parkland Hospital know
when he had got a job. He was unwilling
at first cven to go there to sce his wife
after the birth of their second child.”

“Did you tell the hospital that he
was employed?”

“Yes. T didn't try to preach to Lee
ahout right or wrong. I simply told him
that T was the kind of person who had
never heen able to lie and that 1 didn’t
think I'd better begin trying to be now.”

“Did he think that the hospital might
cut off the help it was glvmg him if it
was known he was employed?”

“Yes, 1 believe he thought that. It
was after I told him the hospital already
knew he was working that he agreed to go
and see Marina at Parkland.”

II was on November 1st, ten days after
Marina returned from the hospital, that
an agent of the FBI came to Ruth Paine's
home. He came, Ruth feels, to encourage
Marina's confidence in the FB

“He told her she could appeal to
them {or help if she received blackmail
threats from Russia. 1 learned later that
the FBI routinely offers protection of this
sort to emigrés from Iron Curtain coun-
trics ahout a year after they have come to

America. My respect for the FBI, which
was already great, went up after that
visit.  We discussed the difficulty in a free

socicty of politely watching people with
queer, possihly dangerous ideas. Unlike
a congressional committee, the FBI never
makes their suspicions of an individual
public until lhry havv evidence that will
stand up in court.”

The agent also asked Ruth and Ma-
rina for OQswald's working address, which
they gave him, and for his home address
in Dallas, which they did not have.

“Did you give him Oswald’s phone
number?”

“No."

“Why not? Were you trying to pro-
tect him?™

“Of course not. [ took it for granted
that the FBI knew all about him and
should know all ahout him, and that Lee,
having tried to renounce his citizenship,
would have to expect and to live with FBI
checking the rest of his life. It didn't
ocenr to me that the telephone number
would help them. I wish now it had.
Frankly, T thought they must know where
he was staying. After the FBI visit I
gave Lee the FBI man’s name and phone
number so that Lee could get in touch
with them. He told me he had tried to
do so, but it was not until weeks after the
assassination that I found out from the
FBI that he had lied about this also.”

“Did you ever feel that Oswald was
really dangerous?”

“l didn't care for him. I thought
he was an inflexible, dogmatic oddball.
But | never thought of him as dangerous.
1 have children to think about. I wouldn’t
have invited his wife to stay with me if
[ had thought he was dangerous.”

Oswald spent three days instead of
the usual two, during the Veterans Day
weekend, at the Paines’. Marina herself
appeared to feel that he had overstayed

his yelcome this time, and asked him not
to return the next weekend. It was during
this absence that the two women discov:
ered through their phone call that Oswald
was living under an assumed name. His
return call was on Monday., November

‘18th.  On Tuesday and Wednesday, No-

vember 19th and 20th, Oswald did not
phone Marina as he usually did on weck-
day evenings.

“He thinks he is punishing me,”
rina said.

But on Thursday evening, November
21st, when Ruth returned home from
shopping for groceries, she found Oswald,
iusl arrived from Dallas, standing on her
awn. He had ridden out with the brother
of the woman who had suggested there
might be work at the School Book Depos-
itory. This was the first time Oswald had
ever come without first asking Ruth if a
visit would be all right. Marina told Ruth
privately that she was sorry that Lee had
not asked permission, but both women

* Ma-
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thought that this unscheduled visit was to
make up for his anger ahout the phone
call.

“How did he appear?”

“Just as usual. After we had gone
inside, | remember, I spoke to him about
my excitement and pleasure at the pros-
pect of the President’s visit next day.

“What was his response to this?”

“He just said, ‘Uh, yeah® and walked
past me into the kitchen.”

“There was nothing whatsoever to
mark this visit from any other?”

“No. He ate supper as usual. I did
notice one thing, though. He had been to
the garage that evening. I put the chil-
dren to bed, and after I had done that, I
went to the garage to paint some blocks
for the children. I noticed that hc had
been there and had left the light on.”

“Did you hnve any idea he had a gun
in the garage?

“No. They had a lot of their stuff
stored there. Books. Household things.

Michael had moved that gun, wrapped in

an old blanket, out of his way more than

once. Of course, he didn’t know it was a
n.

“Didn’t he feel it to find out what
it was?”

“You don't go prying into your guests'
belongings.”

“What would you have done if you
had discovered that Oswald had a gun?”

“It's legal to own a gun in Texas,
Lots of men hunt in Texas.”

After some further thought Ruth
added, “I think, if I had discovered the
gun, 1 would have asked him not to keep
it at our place. It was legal for him to
have it, but I had a right, since T don™t
like the use of frearms, to tell him to
keep it elsewhere.”

“Except for the light in the garage
there was nnlhmg unusual in your memory
of the evening?”

“No. Lee went to hed earlicr than
Marina and I. We sat up talking to-
gether for some time. But Lee did some.
thing unusual that night or the next
morning which 1 didn’t learn about until
later. He took off his wedding ring and

ut it into a little china cup that had
gelonged to Marina's grandmulr-

“How did you find out about this?™

“After the assassination, the FBI
came to the house to look for the ring,
which was missing from Lee's finger. We
found it in the cup in Marina's bedroom.”

thn Ruth awakened on the morning
of November 22nd it was seven thirty,
and the house was so quiet she was afraid
Oswald had overslept and missed his ride
to work. When she went to the kitchen
she saw the empty coffee cup, which told
her that Oswald was up and gone. She
then turned on her television so that she
could see the Kennedys in Fort Worth and
Dallas. She left the set on for Marina
when she went with her daughter Lynn for
an early dentist's appointment. Marina
was watching when she got home.

“She thanked me for leaving the TV
on. She had nursed Rachel about six
thirty while Lee dressed for work, she
said, and then gone back to sleep. Next
time she woke up she was fecling tired,
but the thill and excitement of watching
Kennedy's arrival at lhe Dallas airport
had made her feel better.”

The two women were together on the
living-room sofa watching television when
the announcement was made of the shool-
ing. Lunch was on the table but it was
forgotten. Ruth lighted some plain can-
dles and Marina asked her if that was a
way of praying. Ruth told her it was one
way. When the word came that President
Kennedy had died, the two women grieved
together.

“Marina said.” Ruth told me, * *What
a terrible thing this is for Mrs. Kennedy!
How sad it is that her children will have
to grow up without a father!" ™

The two women were still in front
of the television set when six men ar-
rived from the sheriff's office and the
police department with the news that Lee
Oswald was in their custody, charged with
the murder of police officer J. D..Tippit.
They wanted to search the house, and al.
though Ruth, with her Civil Liberties
training, kiew that they should have a
warrant, she told them they could search.
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Their first question was, “Did Lee
Oswald own any gun<?”

Ruth translated the question to Ma.
rina, and to her horror Marina answered
yes. She said that she had known Lee
had a rifle and that a couple of weeks ago
she had seen the butt of a rifle wrapped
up in a hlanket on the garage floor.

“I translated Marina's answer to the
officers. T felt sure that the rifle must still
be there. But when the officers picked up
the blanket roll, it hung limp. Whatever
it had held was gone. It was at that
moment that it came to me that Lee
Oswald was probably the man who had
killed the President, and I was filled with
great anger.”

“Anger?”

“I was angry because of his terrible
deed and because he had made use of my
home and had gone from it to kill a man
T honored.  Any man would have heen had
enough.  But John Kennedy! 1 didn't
want to leave a stick unturned in my house
or elsewhere in finding how and why this
was done.”

The police filled two car trunks with
the possessions of the Paines and the Os-
wald
two women got into the police cars and
were driven off to the police station.

On this trip into town one of the of-
ficers in the front seat of the car turned
arount and asked Ruth a question. Tt was
a question 1 also had asked her early in
my taths.

“Are you or have you bheen a Com.
munist?”

Ruth told the officer, “No, T am not.
And T don’t feel the need of taking the
Fifth Amendment, either.”

The officer. hearing this, smiled and
turned around.

At the police station Ruth was re-
lieved 1o find they had a Russian trans.
lator.  Anger, shock and grief had made
it difficult for her to translate for Marina.
The police asked her why Oswald had
spent only weekends at her home.  Her
answer was that he had not been invited
to spend more time there. My question
was the opposite. Why hadn't Marina and
her haby gone to Dallas to spend the week-
ends with Oswald?

“In one room?” Ruth asked.

This did not seem so great a hardship
to me as having the entire Oswald family,
anid Oswalds presecnce—in Ruth's own
words a “definite strain”—in the four
rooms of the Paine * 'me.  But putting her
own comfort first was not a habit with
Ruth Paine.

“How did Marina react?
o

Did she

‘No.  She was very quiet, ashen in
color,  On the way to the police station
she had asked me if the penalty for kill.
ing wasn't the electrie chair. 1 said it
was.

“At the police station | made a state-
ment to the police which they typed up
amd had me sign.  They got impatient
with me when I wanted to correct some of
the  grammatical mistakes in the type-
seripl.”

Mre. Oswald, Lee's mother, came to
the police station while they were there.
She was a practical nurse in Fort Worth,
and had heard about Lee’s arrest on her
car radio. QOswald had not wanted his
mother to know where he lived; and had
not let Marina, who wanted to send her

90

~. And after getting a baby sitter the’

mother-in-law the news of the birth of
their second child, know where his mother
lived. Mrs. Oswald, after the question-
ing at the police headquarters was over,
went home with Ruth and Marina and
spent the night on the sofa in the Paine
living room.

Ruth Paine’s position was now pain-
ful on several counts. “I was grief.
stricken by the death of the President. 1|
thought he was doing a remarkahle job.
There had never been a death in my im.
mediate family. No one I cared about so
much had ever died before. 1 felt it per.
sonally, not just as a citizen. Then my
sorrow was offended, was soiled, by this
association with the assassin, with anger
and horror that the man who killed the
President had left my house to fire that
shot.

“But I could not give way to my grief
in a way that would have eased me. For
three weeks newspapermen were constant-
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Iy at the house. 1 had to think of my
children, to try to keep up for their sake
some semblance of normal living. After
the children were in bed { would take out
the newspapers that had piled up and that
I hadn’t had time for, or the strength for,
during the day. [ would begin to read:
but [ would always have to give up. 1
couldn’t read for crying.”

“What was Marina’s attitude that
night?”
“It’s hard to remember, exactly, We

didn’t get back from the police station
until about nine thirty. We had had no
lunch. We ate some hamburgers and put
the children to bed. By this time we knew
that Lee was suspected of having killed
thé President as well as Officer Tippit.
Marina said that she did not feel that Lee
had had anything against President Ken-
nedy, that Lee had translated statements
about and by Kennedy to het from the

papers and magazines and that he had
never criticized the President to her.”

The next day Marina Oswald and Lee
Oswald’s mother left Ruth’s house for Dal-
las. They saw Oswald that noon.

Later the same day, Ruth Paine had
some phone calls from Oswald himself.
The first phone call came around 4 p.m.
She was thunderstruck to hear his voice.

I asked Ruth what she had said. “Did
you ask him whether he had done the ter.
rible things of which he was accused?”

“No.”

“Why?"

“I think 1 believed he had donc
them.”

“What was said?”

“He said, ‘This is Lee." I answered,
‘Well, hi." His reply was, ‘Ah, yeh.”

“Shamefaced? Guilty?”

“No. About as usual. More in the
manner of a hoy who thinks if he believes
the liec he is telling, others will belicve
him too.”

“What did he want?”

“He wapted me 1o call a lawyer
named Abt. 1 had heard on television
that he wanted a New York lawyer, John
Abt. to represent him. I resented Lec's
asking me to do anything for him at that
point, but I helicved he had a right to
counsel, so 1 told him I'd try the phone
numbers he gave me for this lawyer. |
did call, but wasn't able to get Mr. Abt
About ninc o'clock Lee phoned again,
This conversation opened in Russian and
he asked for Marina. 1 told him she
was not with me but that I thought |
knew where | could reach her. He asked
me if I would try to get in touch with her
and if 1 would tell her that he wanted
ker to return to my place.”

“Why did hc want this?”

“Simply because she would be more
available to him if he wanted to talk with
her. This is what I think, anyway.”

“Did you get her?”

“When 1 phoned the motel where |
thought they might be staying, Mrs. Mar-
guerite Oswald answered.”

“What 'did she say?”

“The gist of it was that she thought
it would be bétter for Lec not to know
where they were and that there were other
things to think of than Lee’s convenience.”

Ruth Paine did not speak with Lee
Oswald again. On Sunday she, with much
of the rest of the nation, saw Jack Ruby
shoot and kill him.

“How did you feel when this hap-
pened?”

“I was glad.”

Nothing Ruth Paine had said had
amazed me as much as this. [ couldn’t
believe my ears.

“There goes your halo,” I said.

“What do you mean?”

“You were afraid that I was geing to
present you as a saintly Quaker. There 1s
nothing remotely saintly or even Quaker.
ish about bemg glad that one man has
murdered another man. Were you giad
because you had been angry with Os-
w

“No, that had nothing to do with it.
I thought that Lee’s death this way would
be so much easier for Marina.”

“Surely you couldn’t put that in the
balance against murder? Against due
process of law? Against this added proof
to others and to curselves that we are a
lawless, violent pebple?”
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“Fwasn't glad Jack Ruby killed him,
[ was just glad it was over. T was glad he
was 1,' .'N]

“Of course, it wax the easiest way
out fnr Lee Oswald.”

"I wasn't thinking of an easy way out
for Lee Oswald.  And T don’t believe that
we Hive our lives in time only.  Only
Lee Oswald's fife in time was finished with
lhd( shot. Sinee then I've regretted the
fact that his death has |munln] our ever
knowing what he might have told.”

Perhaps it was unfeeling of me to
harry Ruth about her reaction to Oswald's
death. But her use of the word *‘glad™
was <0 contradictory to everything she had
worked for and helieved in, in the past,
that | wanted to try to understand it. She
was a woman who was opposed to violence,
to killing, to capital punishment.

A very honest woman. Ruth Paine
didn’t try to justify her reaction.

“In the past few years,” she said,
have thought a lot about killing and vi-
olenee. T have come to think of right and
wrong in terms of what helps the individ-
ual soul and what harms it. I don't like
blanket statements. 1 prefer to hase all
judgments upon the individual case. 1
don’t see right or wrong in absolute or
general terms. IUs far too complicated a
matter.”

“Did you go to his funeral?”

If Ruth’s “gladness™ had shocked me,
this question shocked her.

“Go to his funeral? Tt would have
been an affront to my sorrow! Go o
mourn the man who had killed the Presi-
dent?”

Then after a pause she said, [ didn't
know ahout it.”  And after a longer pause,
“I've learned since that there was no one
there to translate for Marina.  If she had
asked me to go, if my presence there
would have helped her, T would have
gone. | couldn’t help John Kennedy by
staying away.”

But she wasn't at the funeral. Mail.
checks and gifts began to arrive for Ma.
rina, and these Ruth delivered to the Se.
cret Service via the local police. She also
sent notes in Russian to Marina.

“Did you hear from her?”

“T had a note from her at Christmas.
She thanked me again for everything and
said hew sorry she was things had ended
Ity.  She asked me to \\‘rilcn which 1

Ruth also sent Marina two books.

“When Marina was with me, she had
sometimes read to me from two hooks she
had in Russian on child care. [t occurred
to me that she might like to have these
hooks with her.”

“How did the police happen to miss
them when they gathered up the Oswald
helongings?  Two books in Russian?”

Ruth laughed. “I don’t know. They
zathered up my folk-dance records and left
behind the books in Russian.  Anyway.
that's what they i, So T took the book~
down to the police station to be sent on to
Marina. | thought <he might need them.
She referred to them all the time. | re.
member her quoting to me from one of the
hooks: “Nursing is the baby's right and the
mother's pride.” ™

“Did you ever hear from her about
them?™

“A day or so aflter I had left them at
the Irving police station, two Secret Serv.
ice. men called on me. One of them
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spohe Rus<ian.  They said that something
very important had happened and showed
me a4 note, or at least several pages of
writing.  The page they showed me had no
salutation at the top.  The Russian-speak-
ing Secret Service man talked to me in
Russian. T think he wanted to test my
skill in the language. Then he asked me
if T had ever seen this particular piece of
writing and if 1 could identify the hand-
writing.,

“The writing was in Russian and T
wasn't given the page to read. but simply
to look at. [ <aid that 1 had never seen
that piece of writing before and that |
did not recognize the handwriting. [ had
heen able to read the first sentence of the
page shown me. The sentence was, “This
key is for the postoffice hox.” and whoever
had written the sentence had used the
Fnglish word for key, putting it into Rus.
sian letters.

“The translator satd to me., “Mrs.
Paine. we know that you sent this note to
Marina.”

“I said. *You know more than [ do.’

“The translator then told me, ‘Mrs.
Paine. it will be hest for you to be as
frank and honest as possible.

“I told him that [ was honest at all
times and that [ was being honest then.
Up to then [ had no idea where the note

A Baby Is Born

The hand, the tiny foot, the breath,
the bady, soft and sweet, to bring

up from a stillness deep as death—

to clap and dance and lauqgh and sing,
and, so, extend the ecstasy,

the joy of all that made him he!

by Helen Harrington

had come from. After that the conver.
sation moved into English, and I learned
from the other Secret Service man that the
note had been found in a hook. 1 then
remembered the two Russian child-care
hooks T had sent Marina and supposed
that the note had been found in one of
them.  When the Russian translator and 1
had diseussed the writer’s fatlure to use
the Russian word for key. T told him, ‘The
writer should have used Fliluch. ™

“Do vou think thiz was what con-
vinced them that you didn’t write the
note?”

I don’t think they believed at any
time that 1 had written it. 1 asked the
Secret Service men if they helieved the
note to be current. They replied that they
didn’t know.”

Late in December, Ruth read an ar
ticle in the Houston Chronicle concerning
a note Oswald had written to Marina just
hefore his attack on General Walker. tell-
ing her what she should do if he was
arrested.

“Y recognized in it the sentenee [ had
read in the notr shown me by the Seeret
Service man, Marina's business manager
told the press that when Oswald came
home on the evening of April tenth and

confessed to Marina that he had tried
shoot General Walker, she threatened §,
show this note 10 the police if ever k
showed signs of doing such a thing agam”

“Do you think Marina really helievn
that her threat to Oswald to show it 1,
the police would preve nt him from making
any more such attacks?"

“Yes, This may not zeem realisie,
but she was very young, in a foreim

country, not knowing the language, and
facing, without the e Ip one
peet from a husband, terrible
and events,

“She was quite without counsel. Her
religions views were like a tender geeey
shoot.  Only since the death of her mnl)ur
had she come to believe there was a Gal,
She had no faith to help her in the al.
sence of a personal counselor. I've heard
that she has recently been attending
church. These happenings may have ere
ated a major crisis in her religious think.
in

woull e
decisiog.

“Will your experience with the O«
walds make vou more wary in dealing
with other people?”

“I don’t think so. I don’t want to le
mechanical and  programed in my e
sponses to people.  Not every impulse to
respond can be analyzed. There are re.
sult= that we simply can’t see or antici-
pate. Life is a chance-taking enterprise.
When you stop taking (llan((\. you stop
hvm;:

I asked a eruel question. Do yon
think it pessible that by relieving Tee
Oswald of expenses. by giving hup time,
a storage place for his gun. vou made it
easier for him . . . 1o do what he di

“I have gone over and over that in
my mind. [ think the chanees involved
were bevond anybody’s anticipating.”

“Of course, we can never know
whether or not what you did might not at
some  moment almost have counterhal
anced Oswald’s determination to kill.”

“I expect it was too late in Lee O
wald’s life for him to be changed {unda.
mentally by what anyone did--or didn’t

“What if Lee Oswald and his mother
had. from the beginning of their lives, ex.
perienced the kind of loving kindness you
offered the Oswalds?™

“Who tan say? Of course, | think
we'd all be better if what we gave anid
what we received was, from the beginning,
love, trusl, openness.™

I asked Ruth Paine only one ques
tion on the day 1 said good-by 1o her.
“Would vou do it all over again? lu
spite of the <uflerings, the inte
your life, the misery, the publici
She was silent for an instant
then she rephrased my question,
“Would I open my home again to .«
woman | liked. a2 woman who needes
friendship and a place to live? Yeoo D
the “if onlys” do plague me. of courw
They probably always will. f only | had!
known that Lee Oswald had hidden a
rifle in my garage. /f oniv 1 had realized
that this man was capable of such an act.
I{f only quite by accident | had or had
not done a dozen things. But then,
pose | had nor answered the prompting of
my heart, had not invited Marina to stay
with me, and, that Lee had killed the
President anyway. Wouldn't the ‘if onlys’
have been much worse?” Tue Exv

and

sup-
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